

RAC Foundation response to the House of Commons Transport Select Committee into Local Roads Governance and Funding¹

Contents

- 1. Introduction.
- 2. Background.
- 3. The condition of local roads in England and how they have fared over time.
- 4. The direct and wider economic and social costs of not maintaining local roads.
- 5. The quality of monitoring and reporting of local road conditions.
- 6. Whether the current approach to maintenance of local roads is appropriate and whether it needs to be improved.
- 7. The funding requirements of local roads and the suitability of current funding streams for the immediate and longer-term future.
- 8. Whether there is a role for alternative funding models for local roads maintenance and investment.
- 9. The regional distribution of local roads funding across England.
- 10. Conclusions.

1. Introduction.

1.1 The RAC Foundation is an independent transport policy and research organisation which explores the economic, mobility, safety and environmental issues relating to motoring and road use. We have taken an interest in the issue of roads management, maintenance and funding over several years and have published a number of reports which may be of interest to the Committee.

1.2 In particular our November 2015 report 'The Condition of England's Local Roads and how they are Funded' sought to explore similar territory to that of current interest to the Committee. We have subsequently worked with the Association of Directors of Environment, Economy, Planning and Transport (ADEPT) to seek to develop better indicators of local road condition, resulting in our annual survey of highway bridge condition.

¹ HoC Transport Select Committee 2018.

1.3 At the heart of the debate about local road condition is a tension between what, as road users, we should be entitled to expect in terms of the capability of the wide range of local authority managed roads to enable us to drive safely at reasonable speeds and the slightly vague duty in section 41 of the Highways Act 1980 that says "The authority who are for the time being the highway authority for a highway maintainable at the public expense are under a duty, ..., to maintain the highway". There is a wide gap between a road that is merely passable and a road that is safe to drive at 30, 40 or 60 miles per hour. Anecdotal evidence suggests that a small but increasing proportion of our local roads are being managed with speed restrictions that, in turn, put the onus on the driver to cope with an uneven road surface.

1.4 A full list of our related publications is at Annex A, and a full bibliography of source material is at Annex B.

2. Background.

2.1 The local road network is a sizeable asset – arguably the most valuable and certainly the most visible asset under public ownership and control. In 2017 roads in England comprised 3,052kms of motorway, 32,351kms of 'A' roads and 268,026kms of minor roads. 1.34% of the motorway network, 87% of 'A' roads and the entirety of minor roads are managed by Local highway Authorities (LHAs); making 97.7% of the complete network (table 2.1). The proportion of roads administered by local highway authorities (LHAs) has grown with the transfer of some roads ('de-trunking') from the Highways Agency (now Highways England) see para 2.5 below. In addition the length of minor roads, as a result of new housing and commercial developments, has also grown slightly – by 3,303 kms (1.25%)².

2.2 Local authority roads carry over two thirds of the country's motorised road traffic – roundly 300bn vehicle kilometres (vkms) a year (Table 2.2) - as well as accommodating almost all foot and cycle traffic and providing access to 25 million or so properties in England³; these roads act as local distributors, form the bulk of most urban road networks, provide vital regional linkages and, of course, access to the national road network - which would be unable to do its job without the local road system to feed traffic onto and collect traffic from it. As well as enabling mobility and access, local roads provide easements for most of the gas, electricity, drainage, water and cabled telecommunications networks – something that creates its own maintenance headache for highway authorities.

				0 /		
	Motorways	Rural 'A'	Urban 'A'	Minor	Minor	All roads
		roads	roads	rural	urban	
Highways	3,041	3,861	287	0	0	6,902
England						
Local	44	19,315	8,964	154,496	115,886	296,705
Authorities						
All	3,085	23,176	9,251	152,496	115,886	303,894

Table 2.1: English Road Network (kilometres) by road and highway authority type – 201

Source DfT 2018a.

² DTLR 2001.

³ Estimated from DCLG (2012) & DCLG (2015).

2.3. The Strategic (trunk) Road Network is the responsibility of Highways England (formerly the Highways Agency) which is a government owned company established in April 2015⁴. There is now an agreed (national) Roads Investment Strategy⁵ which includes investing over £15bn by 2021 with a specific set of performance specifications⁶. To help underpin the commitment to improve the national roads infrastructure the Vehicle Excise Duty (VED) bands for new vehicles were reformed in April 2018 to protect the revenue yield which is then to be put into a new Roads Fund to pay for sustained investment in roads⁷. The DfT and Highways England have also recently embarked on planning for the second tranche of the national road investment programme from 2021 to 2025⁸.

	Motorways	Rural 'A'	Urban	Minor	Minor	All roads
	-	roads	'A' roads	rural	urban	
				roads	roads	
Highways	97.7	49.2	4.6	0	0	151.5
England						
Local	1	81	62.3	61.0	93.0	298.3
Authorities						
All	98.7	130.2	66.8	61.0	93.0	449.7

Table 2.2: Traffic (bn vehicle kilometres) on English Roads by road type and highway authority type – 2016.

Source: DfT 2018b.

2.4 The local road network in England is managed by 153 local highway authorities⁹ which are responsible for maintaining, managing and, where necessary, improving their section of the network. This includes carriageways, footways, cycleways and verges and planting; and maintenance activity includes clearing drains and gullies, ensuring signs and road markings are clear and visible¹⁰, operating street lighting, monitoring bridge condition, and clearing culverts. As well as maintaining these assets in good order they have a duty to promote the use of their roads, by all types of road users, in a safe and efficient way and meet increasingly demanding standards of environmental performance¹¹. Together these two sets of networks were estimated to be worth £344bn in 2014¹².

2.5 The length of England's local road network has increased in recent years as a result of new construction and de-trunking of parts of the strategic road network. Since 1993 the English trunk 'A' road network has been reduced in length by 3,600 kms whilst the LA 'A' road network has grown by 2,600 kms – mainly through the transfer of urban 'A' roads from central government. Also during that period the English minor road network grew by around 25 thousand kilometres¹³.

⁴ Highways England 2018a.

⁵ DfT 2016.

⁶ DfT 2014a.

⁷ HMT 2015a.

⁸ DfT 2017a.

⁹ MHCLG 2017a.

¹⁰ There were an estimated 4.4 million LA traffic signs in England in 2013 (DfT 2013).

¹¹ Various Acts of Parliament including the Highways Act 1980, the Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984 & the Traffic Management Act 2004.

¹² HoC 2014.

¹³ DfT 1993, table 3.18 and DfT 2018a.

3. The condition of local roads in England and how they have fared over time.

3.1 This section is based on published information at the national level. Local Highway Authorities (LHAs) keep records of their highway assets with varying degrees of completeness and accuracy and this process is encouraged by the growing adoption of Highway Asset Management Strategies and Plans. In future it is conceivable that common standards of data definitions and collection protocols will allow a much richer picture of the extent and condition of England's local road assets to be compiled. But we are not there yet.

3.2 The measurement of the condition of roads is a complex task for two reasons:

- there is a huge and diverse range of components on the surface (carriageways, verges, footways/cycleways; beneath the surface (drains tunnels, culverts and bridges); above the surface (bridges) and street furniture (lighting and signage), so a simple metric of highways condition would be of little value; and
- the condition of some types of assets is hard to establish. Many parts of the road fabric are buried, or hidden from view in some other way, making direct inspection difficult and costly. Also the scale and variety of the local road network, with myriads of local variations of condition of its many components, limits the utility of simple indicators.

3.3 Whilst the condition of the carriageway surface is the most obvious and perhaps the most important aspect of highway conditions - uneven footways can cause pedestrians to trip with potentially severe consequences for the frail and elderly and even small defects in the carriageway can be a real threat to cyclists and motorcyclists – the health of the foundations underlying the surface is critical, hence the need to patch potholes swiftly, not just to provide a better surface but also to protect the structural integrity of the road from damage.

3.4 Over recent years increased understanding of the performance of parts of the road system and improvements in measurement techniques have resulted in changes in which the condition of road pavements¹⁴ have been measured¹⁵. Whilst this means that modern metrics are more reliable it does make comparison over time much more difficult. For example in the 1980s¹⁶ road conditions were indicated by the proportion of the network (carriageways) with more than 5 or 20 years of residual life and whether their condition was improving or deteriorating. In the 2000s condition monitoring also included footways and verges¹⁷. Whilst these tend to be national-level, local authorities may have more data available to them, but it is possible that this may not be comparable with other LHAs. Currently the main condition indicators are¹⁸:

¹⁴ Pavement here is used to denote the fabric of the carriageway: sub-base, base and surface material – not the footway as in common parlance.

¹⁵ DfT 2018c.

¹⁶ DoT (1983), tables 2.33 & 2.34.

¹⁷ DTLR (2002), section 3.

¹⁸ DfT 2018d.

- Principal and non-principal classified roads where maintenance should be considered
- Percentage of unclassified roads where maintenance should be considered
- Skidding resistance of principal roads
- Percentage of lane 1 trunk motorway length surveyed surface condition requiring further investigation
- Percentage of lane 1 trunk 'A' road length surveyed surface condition requiring further investigation
- Percentage of lane 1 trunk motorway length surveyed skidding resistance requiring further investigation
- Percentage of lane 1 trunk 'A' road length surveyed skidding resistance requiring further investigation
- Local authority 'A' road lengths receiving maintenance treatment by type of treatment
- Local authority minor road lengths receiving maintenance treatment by type of treatment.

These measurements do not specifically identify potholes¹⁹ despite the fact that road surface defects are a major source of nuisance to motorists and cyclists resulting in vehicle damage and creating road safety risk.

3.5 There is no systematic reporting of the condition of most of the other road asset components at the national level and therefore the national indicators can only be used as a partial measure of roads asset conditions and the need for maintenance and renewal activity. This is less than has been required in the past which has included²⁰:

- Visual survey of carriageway defects by, type of deterioration and road class;
- Visual survey of footway deterioration and footway trips by road class;
- Condition of kerbs by road class;
- Percentage of network requiring close monitoring of structural condition by road class;
- Percentage of network where structural maintenance should be considered by road class;
- Skidding resistance by road class; and
- Percentage of road network by residual life.

3.6 At the central level therefore rather less is known currently about the condition of local roads than has been the case in the not too distant past. Indeed in its report on 'maintaining strategic infrastructure: roads' the National Audit Office recommended that the DfT should improve its understanding of the current condition and future needs of the local road network, including structures²¹.

3.7 The current system of monitoring road conditions started in 2006/07 but the earlier monitoring system results give some useful insights into the relative condition of different type of road assets and how these changed over time.

¹⁹ DfT 2017d.

²⁰ DTLR 2002.

²¹ NAO 2014.

3.8 Findings from the pre 2006/07 Condition Surveys²² apply to England and Wales together and found:

- After an initial deterioration, the condition of All Purpose Trunk Roads (APTRs) gradually improved from the mid-1980s up 'till 2001 when reporting was suspended because of poor data reliability.
- In built up areas carriageway conditions gradually worsened up to the end of the 1990s but improved thereafter particularly for 'A' roads and this seems also to be the case for trunk 'A' roads.
- Outside the built up areas there was a steady improvement in 'A' road carriageway conditions but relatively little change in the conditions of carriageway on 'B' and 'C' roads. The condition of minor roads worsened but with some recovery seen between 2003 and 2006.
- Footway conditions changed little from the mid-1980s up 'till the end of the 1990s but deteriorated thereafter and, with a quarter of their length affected by deterioration in 2006, should clearly have been a matter for concern.
- The area of verges affected by deterioration worsened slightly from the mid-1980s to the mid-2010s but, at between 5% and 7%, appear to have been in better condition than footways. The percentage of kerbs needing replacing or resetting gradually reduced to just over 3%.
- 3.9 The remainder of this section covers just England.

Figures 3.1, 3.2, 3.3, 3.4, & 3.5 illustrate trends by region and for England as a whole 3.10 in the percentages of the relevant network with a score that is likely to show deterioration and may need maintenance within the next 12 months. Road surface conditions are generally estimated by the use of SCANNER vehicles which, whilst calibrated to perform within defined limits, are not entirely consistent. The programme of SCANNER measurements (approximately 30 measurements every 10 metres of road) produces data that is then used to form a standardised Road Condition Indicator. However, the Department does not collect the raw data from the SCANNER vehicles, nor aggregate values. Instead it only tracks the proportions of roads that score over 100 on this scale. It is quite possible that the distribution of raw RCI values has changed over time, so that lengths scoring 100+ (those road lengths where maintenance should be considered) have diminished, while the mean value has risen. If this is the case, this would not be captured by DfT road condition statistics. The Department only captures the tip of the iceberg in terms of SCANNER data. Caution should be exercised in interpreting small variations between years and regions. From 2014/15 on, alternative estimating technologies have been used by some LHAs in the North West and the East of England; further clouding trend comparisons for these regions^{23.}

²² DfT 2002, DfT 2005 and DfT 2007

²³ For more detail see DfT 2018f.



Figure 3.1: Percentage of LHA 'A' roads where maintenance should be considered.

Source: DfT 2018f.





Source: DfT 2018f.



Figure 3.3: Percentage of LHA minor roads where maintenance should be considered.

Source: DfT 2018g.

Figure 3.4: Length of lane 1 of Trunk roads where skidding resistance requires further investigation 2007/08 – 2016/17.



Source: DfT 2018h.

Figure 3.5: Skidding resistance of LHA 'A' roads, 3 year average 2011/12 to 2013/14 and 2014/15 to 2016/17.



Source: DfT 2018i.

3.11 Despite these uncertainties a number of conclusions can be drawn from these figures: namely:

- The condition of 'A' roads is generally better than those of 'B' & 'C' roads which are in turn better than those of minor roads, averaging about 4% needing investigation over the ten year period compared with around 8% for 'B'/'C' roads and 16% for minor roads.
- Over the period, by this measure, the condition of 'A', 'B' & 'C' roads improved slightly whilst that of minor roads worsened slightly.
- There are significant regional variations in LHA road conditions with the East of England, East Midlands and the North East having above average classified road conditions; London having below average 'A' and minor roads and the South East and West midlands having below average 'A' roads but with the remainder being in better than average condition.
- All regions, except the South West, saw a small improvement in the condition of their 'A', 'B' and 'C' roads (despite a blip in London in the mid-teens) with the greatest improvement in 'B' and 'C' roads in the North East, Yorkshire and Humber and the South East.
- The only regions to see an improvement in the conditions of their minor roads were Yorkshire and Humber, West Midlands and the East of England. The greatest deteriorations occurred in the North West, East Midlands and London.

3.12 Between 2007/08 and 2016/17 the picture of 'A' roads improving faster than the rest and minor roads deteriorating appears to be a continuation of the trends between the mid-1980s and mid-2000s, although the differences in the monitoring systems for these two periods are such that this can be only a tentative conclusion.

3.13 Figure 3.4 sets out the trends in skidding resistance of motorways and All-Purpose Trunk Roads. Two features stand out. The first is that, by this measure, again motorways are in a much better shape than APTRs – as one would expect with higher speeds on motorways and consequently increased skidding risk. Secondly, over the ten year period, skidding risk has increased on both types of trunk roads. It is not evident why there was a surge in the skidding risk in 2015/16 but, even if this was an aberration, the overall trend of deterioration remains.

3.14 Figure 3.5 gives skidding resistance of LHA 'A' roads by type of authority for two recent three year periods. This indicates that overall their performance, by this measure, was inferior to that of trunk 'A' roads. Moreover there are substantial variations between different types of authority. London stands out as the worst performer with the Metropolitan Counties second worst. There is little to choose between the Unitaries and the shire counties with roughly a quarter of their roads requiring further skidding investigation. Between the two periods all types of area saw a deterioration in skidding resistance but with London standing out as seeing the most marked.

3.15 Since 2000 The Asphalt Industry Alliance has carried out annual surveys amongst local highway authorities in England and Wales on a range of aspects of highway maintenance budgets, road conditions and compensation claims. Not all authorities respond (typically response rates range between two thirds and three quarters of all LHAs) and some of the responses are necessarily subjective rather than factual so the findings again needed to be treated with a degree of caution. However they do contain some interesting insights not available from other sources. The material included in this report is for England²⁴ and covers 2007/08 to 2016/17 to correspond with the section using the DfT's surveys' findings for that period.

3.16 The ALARM survey deals specifically with potholes²⁵ and from Figure 3.6 it can be seen how many of these have had to be filled on LHA roads in recent years. From 0.76 million in 2007/08 the number increased to a peak of 2.54 million in 2014/15 since when they have fallen back to 1.6 million in 2016/17. Over the 10 year period 16.67 million pot holes had to be filled in on England's local roads.

3.17 The cost of doing this exceeded £1 billion over the period (at 2016/17 prices) and £230 million was paid out in compensation claims. In addition to this it is estimated that £125 million was spent on processing these claims. There is evidence that suggests that the cost of dealing with claims has increased substantially in relation to the amounts paid out. In the first three years in the chart sums paid were roundly three times the cost of processing claims whilst in the last they were only 15% more. This suggests that LHAs are putting more effort into resisting claims. If money spent on processing claims had been spent on filling in potholes over these three years 2014/15 – 2016/17 it would have been possible to fill in a further three quarters of a million potholes.

²⁴ London data are published separately in the ALARM reports.

²⁵ There is not a national definition of a pothole but a minimum depth of 40mms and minimum diameter of 250mms is widely used.



Figure 3.6: Potholes filled, costs and compensation (at 2016/17 prices²⁶).

3.18 Other structures including bridges are important highway assets and the RAC Foundation has carried out assessments of substandard bridges in England in 2015/16²⁷ and 2016/17²⁸. These found from an analysis of data for the 2016/17 financial year – received from 150 of the 153 local highway authorities in England – that 2,668 structures over 1.5m in span are not fit to carry the heaviest vehicles now seen on our roads, including lorries of up to 44 tonnes. Many of these bridges have weight restrictions. Others will be under programmes of increased monitoring or even managed decline. The 2,668 bridges represent 5% of the roughly 52,689 bridges to be found on the local road network and the cost of bringing them up to perfect condition is estimated to be about £800 million. The proportion of sub-standard bridges increased slightly between 2015/16 and 2016/17.

4 The direct and wider economic and social costs of not maintaining local roads.

4.1 Poorly maintained roads impose direct costs on road users and result in deterioration of the road fabric, which can be costly to put right. Direct user costs can be difficult to determine as, apart from immediate damage and injury resulting from a clear fault such as a footway trip or damaged wheel, increased journey times and vehicle operating costs, increased accident rates, physical discomfort, and contributory wear and tear all take their toll but are not easily measured objectively. There is some evidence of the costs of poorly maintained roads and the benefits from spending to improve these.

Sources: ALARM 2007 - 2017.

²⁶ Using the GDP deflator (ONS 2018).

²⁷ RACF 2017.

²⁸ RACF 2018.

However these relate to specific cases and care is needed in attempting to generalise from these.

4.2 A study carried out for Transport Scotland²⁹ explored the wider impacts of varying highway maintenance expenditure in Scotland. This was in the particular circumstances of the finances and physical condition of eight local authorities' roads in 2012. This showed that reducing the road maintenance budget would have an overall negative Net Present Value, as user (mainly vehicle operating) costs increase more than the savings achieved in works costs and that for every £1 (undiscounted) saved by reducing maintenance budgets, there is an increase of more than £2 in non-works costs from the wider impacts of the reduced maintenance. The ratio is £1 to £1.67 for discounted costs with the 40 percent overall reduction in maintenance funding. There would also be unquantified benefits including:

- improved footway condition to encourage walking and, hence, healthier lifestyles;
- increases in the number of cyclists;
- avoidance of the 'broken windows' effect (i.e. general deterioration of the locality; when the area does not appear to be looked after);
- reduced compensation costs from lower claims following accidents;
- reduced health service costs from the reduction in accidents;
- increases in house prices and commercial activity in areas with well-maintained roads and
- reduced litter on well-maintained roads.

4.3 In a more limited study for ADEPT and the RAC Foundation in 2013³⁰ it was concluded there was no reason to suggest that the key summary conclusion for Scotland would not be true for England and Wales. The Scotland study also confirmed the long-term effect of reducing road maintenance and the fact that savings now will increase costs later if the same standards as today are to continue to be adopted.

4.4. The Passenger Transport Executive Group³¹ looked at this issue in a British city regional context and from desk research produced some estimates of the costs and benefits of improved highway maintenance. These were:

According to the World Bank, going from an IRI³² of 2 (smooth road) to an IRI of 18 (road in very poor condition) would more than double the overall user cost of operating a bus, from just under \$0.6/vehicle-km to over \$1.2/vehicle-km. The effect on a heavy goods vehicle would be to take user costs from \$0.7/vehicle-km to \$1.2/vehicle-km. The effect on a typical passenger car would be to increase total user costs from \$0.21/vehicle-km to \$0.33/vehicle-km.

²⁹ Parkman et al 2012.

³⁰ Gould E. et al 2013.

³¹ PTEG 2015.

³² International Roughness Index.

- Based on work done by the University of Birmingham for the DfT, reducing maintenance spending from an optimal £880m/year to £600m/year would create costs to users of 6p/vkm for cars, 7p/vkm for PSVs and 18p/vkm for HGVs.
- Work done for the West Midlands Highway Authorities³³ showed that the proposed strategy, which involved a significant up-front investment over the first five years, would generate benefits of between £6 and £7.5 for every £1 spent.

4.5 The costs of poorly maintained roads are reflected in the attitudes of both the public and organisations dependent on road transport for their operations. The National Highways and Transport Public Satisfaction Survey (NHTPSS) is an annual survey benchmarking public perspectives on, and satisfaction with, local authority highway & transport services. It is managed by the National Highways and Transport Network which is a national highways industry benchmarking group and includes returns from 109 English LHAs.

4.6 Respondents were asked what mattered to them about their local transport and the results for 2017 are shown in Figure 4.1. Highway conditions and pavements make up two out of the top three most important aspects, so clearly therefore the condition of local roads and pavements is very important to the public. But how satisfied are the public with road conditions? Figure 4.1 shows that the condition of local highways are least satisfactory by a large margin; with pavements ranking 8th out of the twelve topics. Street lighting on the other hand gets a good relative score as the 2nd most satisfactory. If the difference between the importance of each attribute and the satisfaction score is measured the gap for road conditions is by far the largest (60) followed by reducing traffic (41) and pavements (40) against an average of 27.3. Not surprisingly this is reflected in the public's priorities for improvements.

4.7 In 2011 the Audit Commission³⁴ reported a Place Survey by the Department of Communities and Local Government³⁵. This (see Figure 4.2) puts concerns about road conditions in the broader context of public opinion generally about a wider range of features of the character of the areas in which they live. That showed that at the national level, road and pavement repairs were the second highest priority for improvement in local areas according to residents. Roads and traffic matters made up three of the top five services in need of improvement with cleaner streets also being a high priority.

³³ CH2m Hill 2015.

³⁴ Audit Commission 2011.

³⁵ DCLG 2009.





Source: NH&TN 2017.





Source: DCLG 2009.

4.8 Potholes in particular appear to generate negative reactions for motorists and the public more widely. This is probably because there are a lot of them, they are very visible and, unlike many deficiencies in public facilities/services the remedy seems obvious to the road user. A recent investigation on behalf of the AA³⁶ found that:

- more than nine in ten (92%) drivers are concerned that the condition of the road could damage their vehicle;
- the condition of the roads is also an issue in terms of safety; 85% of panel members are concerned about their and other road users' safety;
- comparing road conditions to that of mainland Western Europe, half of men (50%) believe that road conditions in the UK are worse and
- just over one in ten (12%) panel members were reluctant to go on long journeys due to the condition of the roads.

4.9 The RAC Annual Report on Motoring³⁷ contains results of surveys of motorists' top concerns. Over the last four years road condition and maintenance has appeared top in three; being displaced in 2017 by concerns about the use of mobile phones when driving, but was back on top in the 2018 survey. Maintenance of local roads topped respondents' investment priorities in all four years by a large margin. In the 2016 survey³⁸ roundly 4 out of every 5 respondents agreed that the state of UK roads is generally poor and 2 out of every 3 that local road conditions had got worse in the last year, with 98% mentioning the road surface as the main factor in this deterioration. The most recent survey found 78% of drivers agreeing that the state of UK roads is generally poor and 83% supporting the ring-fencing of a share of motoring taxes to fund the maintenance of local roads. These sentiments are echoed in other surveys including that by the Wolfson Prize in 2017³⁹ which found:

- 69% of road users say the state of Britain's roads is not good enough;
- 80% are very concerned about potholes;
- 79% think traffic is getting worse on all roads and action needs to be taken;
- 67% are very concerned about pollution from traffic and
- road users are open to new forms of funding.

4.10 The RAC has also compiled a pothole index which tracks the share of breakdowns it deals with that are attributed to pothole damage. This is shown in Figure 4.3 and shows a clear deterioration between the end of 2006 and the beginning of 2010. Since then there has been a small improvement but conditions are still significantly worse than when the index was first started and the switchback pattern over the last few years indicated the vulnerability of the network to seasonal weather cycles.

³⁶ AA 2018.

³⁷ RAC 2014, 2015, 2016, 2017 & 2018.

³⁸ Not asked later as invariably comes out top.

³⁹ Policy Exchange 2017.





4.11 Other views on roads maintenance are canvassed from time to time by organisations which have an interest in transport and roads. A YouGov survey for the Asphalt Industry Alliance⁴⁰ in 2012 found:

- badly maintained local roads are costing small and medium-sized enterprises (SMEs) £5 billion a year in wasted staff time, production delays, increased fuel consumption and vehicle damage repairs;
- sixty per cent of survey respondents said the condition of local roads had deteriorated over the last five years, and over half said the condition had worsened over the past year;
- almost a third (32 per cent) of survey respondents incurred additional costs due to lengthier journey times and used more fuel due to congestion attributable to poor road condition. In addition, more than a quarter (27 per cent) experienced additional damage to their vehicles due to poorly maintained local roads and
- just one in 25 (4 per cent) respondents thought the local roads used by their business were very well maintained, while nearly 10 times as many (37 per cent) said their local roads were not very well maintained.
- 4.12 In its annual survey for 2014⁴¹ the Confederation of British Industry found:
 - UK business sees the road network continuing to deteriorate. More than half of UK companies (52%) report a worsening of motorways in the last five years, and 65% see the same in local roads and

⁴⁰ AIA 2012a

⁴¹ CBI 2014.

 the future is seen as equally bleak, with 77% and 86% of respondents expecting motorways and local roads to get worse or stay the same over the coming five years (i.e. 2015 – 2020).

4.13 Cyclists are particularly vulnerable to poor road conditions and in a recent survey for Cycling UK⁴² 42% of respondents said that they would be encouraged to cycle more if roads were in a better condition (e.g. not having potholes): the most important factor after having segregated cycle facilities (45%).

4.14 Whilst it is not possible to provide a general estimate of the costs of poorly maintained roads and of the benefits of spending to improve them, the evidence from recent case studies clearly points to healthily positive Benefit/Cost ratios and, in some circumstances, very high BCRs. There is also a clear picture of concern by the public in general and motorists in particular as well as local government and business representatives that the condition of local roads is inadequate and worsening and higher priority should be given to the use of existing, and possibly additional, motoring tax receipts to remedying this situation.

5. The quality of monitoring and reporting of local road conditions.

5.1 Local Highway authorities collect data on the condition of their highway assets for their own management purposes and some guidance exists as to what this should include⁴³ and how it should be managed⁴⁴. Much of this is not made available outside the individual authority but looking ahead there is potential for sharing (see para 3.1). Central data is heavily focussed on the condition of carriageways, although footways and kerbs have been included in the past.

5.2 For the purposes of highway maintenance grant allocation the data required by the Department for Transport is quite limited, comprising basic information on road lengths, bridge numbers, scale of street lighting equipment and (from 2018/19) lengths of cycleways and footways⁴⁵, specifically:

- length of Principal motorways and Principal A roads;
- lengths of 'B' and 'C' roads;
- lengths of unclassified roads;
- number of publicly maintainable highways bridges that highway owned over 1.5 metres in span, whether carrying carriageway or footway as of 1st April 2014 and
- the number of street lighting columns owned by authorities as of 1st April 2014;

with PFI projects excluded from the formula. Thus it would appear that block grant funding relies more on asset volume rather than asset condition, though DfT has recently sought to reward highway authorities through an incentive component, described below.

⁴² YouGov 2018.

⁴³ County Surveyors Society 2004.

⁴⁴ UK Roads Liaison Group 2013.

⁴⁵ DfT 2014b, Annex B.

5.3 Clearly LHAs themselves need to monitor both the condition of their assets and how these are changing in order to plan the most cost effective maintenance and renewal regime. The Highways Infrastructure Asset Management regime, which the DfT has been supporting is designed to achieve this. Indeed the grant funding formula contains an incentive component (rising to 18% of the total in 2018/19) to pursue increased efficiencies and improved asset management: this component is based on self-certification by LHAs⁴⁶.

5.4 In its 2014 report on roads maintenance⁴⁷ the National Audit Office recommended that the Department (for Transport) should build on the steps that it has already taken to improve value for money by:

- improving its understanding of the current condition and future needs of the local road network, including structures; and
- identifying criteria to target the Highways Maintenance Efficiency Programme at those local highway authorities that need the most help, and develop evidence for local highway authorities to justify planned preventative maintenance.

Recent DfT initiatives to explore the scope for capturing data from non-traditional sources, such as camera scans from refuse collection vehicles are to be welcomed. It is also possible that useful data could be harvested from motor vehicle telematic systems that monitor, amongst other things, the compression of suspension systems.

5.5 Road users themselves might be expected to be informed about the state of their local roads. However individual needs vary considerably, as an average driver may drive around three thousand kilometres on local roads in a year, the length of the network covered will only be in the order of three hundred kilometres⁴⁸ – or around 0.1% of the network length. As such, highly aggregated numbers of the kind contained in section 3 are of little value in painting a picture for the individual road user. With modern mobile technology it is conceivable that micro-monitoring of road conditions may soon become a practical possibility (and may be necessary for safe autonomous vehicle operation).

6. Whether the current approach to maintenance of local roads is appropriate and whether it needs to be improved.

6.1 The local roads maintenance regime has several dimensions of which the three key areas are governance, funding/financing and maintenance practices. The latter included monitoring, intervention criteria and plans and engineering practices (choice of materials, technologies and construction methods).

6.2 The maintenance of local roads has presented challenges for centuries and a history of this subject up until the beginning of the twentieth century can be found in the Webb's English Local Government: The Story of the King's Highway⁴⁹. The medieval stewardship of manors and monasteries was replaced by parochial statute labour under the direction of a

⁴⁶ DfT 2014b.

⁴⁷ NAO 2014.

⁴⁸ Author's estimate based on DfT 2018i & DfT 2018j.

⁴⁹ Webb S. & B. 1913.

local (non-professional) surveyor. In turn the neglect of through-roads prompted the creation of turnpike trusts and the gradual replacement of statute labour with a local *rate* which enabled the employment of more skilled supervisors and contractors. With growing industrialisation the need for better constructed and maintained roads became pressing and in the mid nineteenth century formal schemes for this were developed, taking advantage of the developing local government arrangements and by the 1890s County Councils became responsible for main roads in their areas and District Councils for secondary roads. The stand out point is that apart from the establishment of a national government responsibility for trunk roads in the mid-1930s this broad approach remains in place to this day, but with all local roads now the responsibility of county councils and unitary authorities outside the metropolitan areas.

6.3 There is room for debate about the extent of the roles different levels of government should play in the planning and management of the road network exemplified by the proposals for a Major Road Network larger than the Highways England network⁵⁰ and the formation of Combined Authorities⁵¹ and Sub Regional Transport Bodies⁵². This is less of an issue for local roads maintenance, although years of tightening budgets have made ensuring an adequate skill base increasingly difficult; as, where advantageous, LHAs can and do combine their maintenance activities either directly or through joint appointment of contractors to secure the necessary expertise and economies of scale, which can be particularly helpful for smaller unitary authorities. Further, we continue to hear from players in the supply chain that greater standardisation of maintenance contracts could help them deliver efficiencies in tendering and subsequent management of maintenance works.

6.4 Roads maintenance methods are being improved following the establishment of the Highways Management Efficiency Programme⁵³ which was set up to promote and improve best and better road maintenance practices. This involves the development and updating of Highways Asset Management Plans⁵⁴ and good practice guidance⁵⁵ along with help in appraising the benefits of well-maintained roads⁵⁶.

6.5 There is potential for improvement in the further development of road construction materials, in particular to provide genuinely 'permanent' and lasting re-instatement after carriageway works and for patching of potholes. Work is also being pursued to develop 'self-healing' road surfacing. Other aspects of maintenance are benefitting from new technologies, such as LED streetlighting requiring less maintenance and a lower power supply. Although the global market for such innovation is huge, it is not clear that the UK framework creates the right incentives for innovation to flourish, particularly where there is a risk of failure for departing from tried and tested techniques.

 $^{^{50}}$ Quarmby & Carey 2015 and DfT 2017b.

⁵¹ Sandford 2017.

⁵² French 2018.

⁵³ HMEP 2018.

⁵⁴ UK Roads Liaison Group 2013.

⁵⁵ HMEP 2017.

⁵⁶ DfT 2015.

6.6 This is probably the best place to pick up the particular challenges arising from the fact that the ground beneath our highways often houses an array of utility services – water supply, sewers and drains, gas pipes, electricity cables and, latterly, the fibre-optic connections for telephone and internet services. All these services themselves require repair and maintenance from time to time, which requires the breaking of the road surface, known as 'streetworks'.

6.7 Streetworks are disruptive for road users whilst underway, and many initiatives have been pursued to incentivise better planning and swifter execution to minimise disruptive traffic impacts. But from a highway maintenance perspective there is a particular challenge in the quality of re-instatement of the carriageway. The concept of 'permanent' reinstatement is arguably something of a misnomer – once broken it is an engineering challenge to return the carriageway surface to an even, smooth condition, and to avoid leaving fissures which allow for water ingress and resulting damage when the water freezes in winter.

6.8 We would suggest that the Committee might like specifically to probe the challenge utility works pose to the efficient maintenance of local highways and what might be done, given the inevitable need to access utility networks for maintenance and repair, to minimise the incidence of works and dramatically improve the pace and quality of carriageway re-instatement.

7. The funding requirements of local roads and the suitability of current funding streams for the immediate and longer-term future.

7.1 The benefits of ensuring adequate and stable funding have been recognised in the creation of the Road Investment Strategy for Highways England. The Government announced in June 2013 that it would be making available £5.8 billion capital - £976 million each year - over the course of the forthcoming parliament to tackle highway maintenance on the local highway network – a significant increase on past levels and the downward trend of previous years. But the allocations were not fixed for the full five years, rather funding was to be set for the first three years (from 2015-16 to 2017-18) with indicative allocations for the subsequent three years from 2018-19 to 2020-21. It is also important to recognise that whereas the DfT is the sole funder for Highways England, the capital maintenance block grant only goes part-way to covering local highway authorities' maintenance spend, as this section explains – the funding picture could perhaps best be described as 'messy'.

7.2 Highway maintenance funding is classified as 'capital' or 'revenue' – this is significant because the funding comes from different sources and applies to different types of works:

- Capital maintenance is primarily the structural renewal of highway assets (including roads, footways, bridges, drainage and lighting); essentially extending the life of the asset. Preventative treatments such as surface dressing are also treated as capital.
- Revenue maintenance expenditure mainly covers the routine works required to keep the highway serviceable and reactive measures to rectify defects. In addition to maintenance of the road surface itself, it also includes the cost of providing street lighting, footway repair and cyclical maintenance such as cleaning activities (of assets

such as the drainage system), grass cutting and vital services such as snow and ice clearance, and salt spreading⁵⁷.

7.3 The Department for Transport provides capital funding to local authorities for highways maintenance – this is known as 'the highways maintenance block', which sits alongside a separate allocation for other transport works called the 'integrated transport block'⁵⁸. Revenue funding is provided by the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) through the Revenue Support Grant (RSG)⁵⁹. This supplements the revenues from Council Tax receipts and retained Business Rates and, as such contains a component related to roads maintenance. However there is no central government constraint on how the RSG is used.

7.4 For the period 2015/16 – 2020/21 the highways maintenance block grant for English LHAs is made up of three elements as shown in Figure 7.1. The largest (needs) component is calculated in light of the lengths of different classes of roads in each LHA area (75%), the number of bridges (14%) and lighting columns (2%) and lengths of footways and cycleways (9%)⁶⁰.



Figure 7.1: English LHA's highways maintenance block grant 2015/16 – 2020/21

7.5 In addition, from 2016/17, there has been an 'incentive' element growing from 5.1% of the total to 15.5% in the last of the six years (the orange component shown in Figure 7.1). This is to be allocated from the results of a self-assessment questionnaire the responses used to determine how far each individual authority is adopting efficiency principles in the planning and execution of its roads maintenance programme. The 'needs' and 'incentive'

Source: DfT 2014e.

⁵⁷ DfT 2014d, para 1.9.

⁵⁸ DfT 2014e.

⁵⁹ DCLG 2013.

⁶⁰ DfT 2014b.

components of the maintenance block grant are not ring fenced but it seems they are being used for their intended purpose.

7.6 The Challenge Fund is available for major renewal projects which are difficult to fund through the normal needs based formula with £75m earmarked for 2017/18 rising to £151m in 2018/19 and the following two years. More recently the National Productivity Fund (£185m in 2017/18) is being provided to improve and maintain highway assets outside London and a Safer Roads Fund worth £175m from 2017/18 – 2020/21 to improve safety on 50 stretches of local 'A' roads.

7.7 In addition to these programmed expenditures, from time to time the DfT makes grants to help local authorities in respect of particular problems which standard grants are insufficient to deal with. Recent examples of this have been the £168m from the Pothole Fund in 2014⁶¹; £46m in December 2017⁶² and £100m announced in March 2018⁶³. The total to be provided by the Pothole Action Fund is £250m between 2016/17 and 2012⁶⁴. The fact that these 'top up' grants are so heavily focussed on potholes underlines the importance the Government places on tackling this aspect of the deteriorating condition of local roads.

7.8 There are other government funding streams which from time to time have been used to help pay for roads maintenance such as the Integrated Transport Block Grant and the Single Growth Fund. However most of the moneys in these streams are used for other purposes. Of the £1,356m ITBG allocated between 2012/13 and 2015/16 only £17m was spent on highways maintenance⁶⁵. This was replaced by the Single Local Growth Fund in 2015 into which *inter alia* Local Authority Transport Majors, Local Sustainable Transport Block and Integrated Transport Block funds were merged. As of March 2016 £7.27bn of this had been allocated through Local Enterprise Partnerships out of a total of £12bn by 2020/21⁶⁶ however it has not been possible to identify any spending on highways maintenance projects⁶⁷.

- 63 DfT 20181.
- ⁶⁴ DfT 2017e.
- ⁶⁵ DfT 2016a.
- ⁶⁶ NAO 2016.

⁶¹ DfT 2014f.

⁶² DfT 2017c.

⁶⁷ DBEIS et al, 2018.

7.9 The Revenue Support Grant from which LHAs obtain support from central government has been reduced significantly in recent years from £15.175bn in 2013/14 to £7.188bn in 2016/17⁶⁸. Along with other pressures on local authority spending this has made it increasingly difficult to maintain a reasonable level of current expenditure on the maintenance of local roads. How sharply this expenditure has reduced in recent years is shown in Figure 7.2. Whilst capital spending has varied from year to year over the eleven year period it has held up reasonably well. By contrast, in real terms, current spending has fallen in every year but two and by the end of the period was only 37% of the level in 2005/06.





Sources: DfT 2017d & ONS 2018a.

7.10 The growing burden on local authority social services, which is the largest benefactor of RSG, is putting pressure on highways maintenance as, unlike personal services, it can be deferred without immediate widespread impacts. Figure 7.3 shows how roads maintenance expenditure comperes with spending on other local service from 2008/09 to 2017/18 (budgeted). Housing and social care have held up with all other services seeing a real decline. Over the full period highways maintenance will have seen the largest decline of almost 40% and in 2017/18 actual revenue spending on highways and transport fell short of the £4.24bn budget⁶⁹ by £246m (6%)⁷⁰ as a result of these pressures⁷¹, compared with only 1% for all services combined.

⁶⁸ MHCLG 2018a, table 2.1a.

⁶⁹ MHCLG 2017c.

⁷⁰ MHCLG 2018b.

⁷¹ RSTA 2018.



Figure 7.3: Local Authority real revenue expenditure trends by service 2008/09 – 2017/18.

Sources: MHCLG 2010, 2011, 2012, 2013a, 2014, 2015, 2016a, 2017a & 2017c.

7.11 The Local Government Association has been expressing concern about this decline in government funding for some time⁷² and had a Populus poll carried out for it in 2014⁷³ which found that:

- 83 per cent of people surveyed back LGA plans for existing fuel duty to be reinvested in roads maintenance;
- regionally, this rises to 90 per cent in Eastern England, 88 per cent in Wales and 85 per cent in Yorkshire and Humberside; and
- one in five respondents said they would be more likely to vote for a party which committed extra money to fixing our roads in next year's (i.e. 2015) General Election.

7.12 If the level of expenditure had been excessive in the mid-2000s this would have been justified, but the widespread concerns about local roads conditions suggest that this is unlikely to be the case. This is supported by the European comparison set out in Figure 7.4. Whilst this data is for 2016 and the comparisons must be treated with some caution as they apply to all types of roads, it is clear that the UK does not rate well in this regard and even if its expenditure were to double it would only move from 19th in the rankings to 15th (out of 23).

⁷² LGA 2015.

⁷³ LGA 2014.



Figure 7.4: % of GDP spent on road maintenance in selected European countries (2016).

7.13 The separate sourcing and determination of current and capital grants can lead to distortions in resource allocations as shortage of capital may result in costly maintenance of existing assets where replacement may be more cost effective and concerns about the acquisition of new assets for which maintenance funding cannot be found. An example of the latter has been the effectiveness of the Safer Roads Fund⁷⁴ where concerns have been expressed about the ability to keep up proposed roads safety initiatives within already overstretched maintenance budgets⁷⁵.

7.14 It is fair to conclude therefore that the funding arrangements for local roads maintenance are deficient in a number of respects. Capital funding arrangements have changed over the years and are now provided on a planned basis but only until 2020/21 which is hardly sufficient for long term planning to deal with the maintenance backlog estimated by the Asphalt Industry Alliance to amount to £9.3bn in value and take 14 years to catch up⁷⁶. The government estimated in 2015 the backlog of maintenance works on the local road network to be up to £8.6 billion⁷⁷. The provision of ad hoc grants such as the various pothole funds is tacit recognition of the inadequacy of existing programmed spending on local roads maintenance. Revenue grants are allocated through a different government department, have been part of a declining total and, not being protected, are under increasing pressure from other local services – notably social care.

7.15 Overall it is clear that funding is insufficient in total and too uncertain looking ahead to give LHAs an adequate basis for maintaining their roads to the standards users expect,

Sources: ITF 2018 & World Bank 2018.

⁷⁴ DfT 2017f.

⁷⁵ KANTARPUBLIC, 2018.

⁷⁶ AIA 2018.

⁷⁷ HMT 2015b.

the separation of capital and current funding obstructs the most efficient use of resources, and wider pressures on current expenditure from a growing demand for social care services.

8. Whether there is a role for alternative funding models for local roads maintenance and investment.

8.1 A sound arrangement for funding local roads maintenance would ideally have the following characteristics:

- it should be predictable enough to allow a realistic strategy and rolling programme to be developed and operated;
- it should incentivise efficient and timely interventions;
- it should be sourced fairly from those who benefit from a well maintained local road system; and
- it should match the scale of the task in hand.

The present grant regime does not match these requirements although recent reforms to the arrangements for capital grants go a substantial way to meeting the first two.

8.2 It is important to recognise the difference between funding and financing: the first being where the liability for paying finally rests and the second the range of devices such as loans and PFIs which provide the cash flow at any point in time. The following paragraphs deal with the matter of funding.

Perhaps the most obvious way of improving the funding regime would be a 8.3 hypothecation of a share of motoring tax revenues, as motorists are major (by no means the only) beneficiaries of local roads. This would appear to be acceptable to the public generally⁷⁸ (unlike some other forms of charging for road use) and hypothecation of road taxes (which had existed between 1910 and 1937⁷⁹) is being introduced in part to provide funds for the trunk road network⁸⁰ and to fund enhancements to major roads (of regional and national significance but not part of the SRN). Fuel duty receipts are currently roundly £28bn/year⁸¹ and at a rate of 57.95p/litre⁸² a 1p/litre yield is £480m/year so current maintenance block funding would be covered by a 2p/litre hypothecation and 5p/litre hypothecation would provide a 50% increase in the block grant and around £1bn year towards current expenditure. Whilst there are many variations on this theme this shows that there is an apparently acceptable way of providing a stable (at least for the time being) and adequate revenue stream which could be used for local roads maintenance. That said, we recognise that such hypothecation would be a loss to other budgets currently funded through general taxation.

- ⁸⁰ HMT 2015a.
- ⁸¹ DfT 2017g.

⁷⁸ LGA 2014.

⁷⁹ Plowden 1971.

⁸² DBEIS 2018a.

8.4 The winning entry to the 2017 Wolfson Prize for economics⁸³ proposed a replacement of existing road taxes with an insurance-linked charge based on mileage, weight and environmental characteristics, with an associated guarantee of funding for local road maintenance. 'LHAs could plan their maintenance work and forecast future revenues based on traffic growth. The central government would not need to worry any longer about which LHA to allocate road investment grants to. The LHAs would become financially independent and would be forced to act more commercially, without the expectation of central government aid in case of need. Furthermore, key indicators such as those used for HE's RIS can be developed and applied to monitor LHAs' spending'⁸⁴.

8.5 Other ideas from the shortlisted entrants all involved some form of mileage based charging designed to be more politically palatable than full blown road pricing with, in some cases, payments to highway authorities related to their performance but all recognising the need to improve the fabric of the road network as well as reduce the economic costs of congestion and environmental nuisances.

8.6 An alternative approach, avoiding the early introduction of so-called 'Pay-As-You-Go' mechanisms would be to unfreeze the rate of fuel duty with the additional revenue dedicated to roads expenditure. If these receipts were guaranteed, highway authorities could potentially borrow against them, either through conventional loans or PFI schemes.

8.7 Local roads are important community amenities, enabling access to properties and easements for utilities. It is therefore reasonable for a share of the maintenance costs to be charged to local property owners and utility companies. With household expenditure on energy, water/sewerage and telephone landlines amounting to over £40bn/year⁸⁵ along with commercial and industrial spending the total spend for England for utilities must substantially exceed £50bn/year - a 1% levy for local road easements would yield £500m or so – which would make a healthy contribution to local road maintenance costs.

8.8 There is little doubt that, given the level of public and business concern about the condition of local roads, it would be desirable to develop a framework that would deliver a fairer, more stable, more secure and higher level of funding for local roads, building on the precedent of the Road Investment Strategy for the English trunk road network.

9. The regional distribution of local roads funding across England.

9.1 It is difficult to produce a comprehensive picture of local road funding by region but a partial picture is possible. As shown in Figure 9.1 public spending on rail dominates in all regions but especially in London and the South East. Local roads expenditure comes second to rail except in London where local public transport (Underground, bus and light rail) comes second (though it is worth noting that the quality of the local road network is a material contributor to the quality and reliability of local bus services). Per capita expenditure on

⁸³ How Can We Pay For Better, Safer, More Reliable Roads In a Way That is Fair To Road Users and Good For the Economy and the Environment?

⁸⁴ Raccuja 2017.

⁸⁵ Author's estimate based on DBEIS 2018, Water UK 2018, ONS2016 and Openreach 2018.

local roads in 2016/17 is shown in Figure 9.2 with below average spending (£78/capita) seen in the midlands London and the South East and the highest levels in the East and North East.



Figure 9.1: Total identifiable expenditure on transport in the English Regions 2016-17

Source: ONS 2017, table B.9.

Figure 9.2: Per capita expenditure on local roads by region – 2016/17



Sources: ONS 2017, table B.9 & ONS 2018b, table 1.

9.2 The main sources of local highways maintenance capital funding from central government are shown in Figure 7.1. The regional distribution of the 'needs' element is shown below in Figure 9.3. The per capita spread is rather less than in Figure 9.2 (excluding London which is subject to a different grant regime from the rest of the country) with the highest rate in 2017/18 £19.45/capita in the East Midlands compared with £14.67/capita in the South East. The distribution of the incentive component of the LHA roads maintenance block grant will depend on the performance of individual LHAs which cannot be determined in advance but the actual 2016/17 and the illustrative allocation, based on all regions obtaining the maximum allowance in later years is shown in Figure 9.4.



Figure 9.3: LHA maintenance block 'needs' grant by region 2015/16 – 2020/21.

Source: DfT 2014g.



Figure 9.4: LHA maintenance block 'incentive' grant by region 2015/16 – 2020/21.

Source: DfT 2014g & DfT 2016b.



Figure 9.5: LHA maintenance block 'challenge' grant by region, Tranches 1 & 2A.

Source: DfT 2017h.

9.3 The final component of the maintenance block grant is the 'challenge' element – totalling £575m over the six year period. So far there have been two tranches of funding to LHAs amounting to £361m for 53 projects and the regional distribution of these as shown in Figure 9.5. A breakdown of capital spending on roads at an LHA level can be found at

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/local-authority-capital-expenditure-andfinancing-in-england-2016-to-2017-individual-local-authority-data the categories listed are:

- New construction / improvement of roads
- Structural maintenance principal roads
- Structural maintenance other LA roads
- Expenditure on Bridges
- Road Safety
- Street Lighting

and can be aggregated to regional levels.

9.4 Current expenditure on local highways maintenance is aided by the MHCLG Revenue Support Grant as indicated in paragraph 7.2 and it does not appear possible to establish how this was distributed between the different service areas.

Expenditure by individual LHAs is given in <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/local-authority-revenue-expenditure-and-financing-england-2016-to-2017-individual-local-authority-data-outturn</u> and broken down into:

- Transport planning, policy and strategy
- Structural maintenance
- Environmental, safety and routine maintenance
- Winter service
- Street lighting (including energy costs)
- Traffic management and road safety: congestion charging
- Traffic management and road safety: traffic management bus lane enforcement
- Traffic management and road safety: road safety education and safe routes (including school crossing patrols)
- Traffic management and road safety: other

and can be aggregated to regional levels.

However the totals of the RSG by local authority can be found at <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/local-authority-revenue-expenditure-and-financing-england-2017-to-2018-individual-local-authority-data-outturn</u>.

10. Conclusions.

10.1 Currently it is not possible to provide a comprehensive and accurate picture of the condition of local roads. Centrally available information does not cover all highway assets and only measures limited features of those included. Moreover changes in monitoring methods and parameters over time make long term comparisons very difficult. However information on a number of key aspect is available and shows that since the current monitoring regime was introduced in 2007:

- there has been a limited deterioration in LHA 'A' roads' surface conditions since 2012/13 with significant regional variations. However, the Department does not collect the raw data from the SCANNER vehicles, nor aggregate values. Instead it only tracks the proportions of roads that score over 100 on this scale. It is quite possible that the distribution of raw RCI values has changed over time, so that lengths of those road where maintenance should be considered have diminished, while the mean value has risen. If this is the case, this would not be captured by DfT road condition statistics
- there has been a significant deterioration in LHA 'B' and 'C' roads' surface conditions since 2012/13 again with significant regional variations;
- minor roads are the least well maintained but their surface condition has changed little;
- the skidding resistance of local roads is inferior to that of trunk roads and has worsened significantly over the last few years with London standing out as the worst case;
- the number of potholes filled on local roads grew from 0.76 million in 2007/08 to 2.45 million in 2014/15 but has fallen back to 1.6 million since at a cost of £1bn plus £125 million in compensation claims and
- of the 53,000 bridges on England's local roads almost 2,700 thousand (5%) are substandard.

10.2 Generalisations about the wider economic and social costs of not maintaining local roads must be made with some caution as they depend upon the particular circumstance of the roads in questions and the type of maintenance interventions involved. However we have found evidence that:

- in Scotland for every £1 saved by reducing maintenance budgets, there is an increase of more than £2 from the wider impacts of the reduced maintenance, plus a range of unquantified benefits;
- based on work done by the University of Birmingham for the DfT, reducing maintenance spending from an optimal £880m/year to £600m/year would create costs to users of 6p/vkm for cars, 7p/vkm for PSVs and 18p/vkm for HGVs; and
- work done for the West Midlands Highway Authorities showed that the proposed strategy, which involved a significant up-front investment over the first five years, would have generated benefits of between £6 and £7.5 for every £1 spent.

10.3 These quantitative studies are strongly backed up by surveys of motorists' and the general public's attitudes to poorly maintained roads which have found:

- poor conditions of roads and footways were amongst the most important and least satisfactory of local transport services;
- in the broader context of a wider range of features of the character of the areas in which people live, at the national level, road and pavement repairs were the second highest priority for improvement in local areas;

- an overwhelming majority of motorists and cyclists are especially concerned about potholes and the damage they could cause and believe that road conditions are deteriorating;
- the proportion of breakdowns resulting from pothole damage has more than doubled since the RAC started to measure this in 2006 and
- these concerns are shared by business interests which also believe road conditions are worsening and this imposes substantial costs on them from wasted staff time, production delays, increased fuel consumption and vehicle damage repairs.

10.4 The monitoring of local road conditions is focused heavily on carriageway conditions and little is known centrally about most other highway assets, although the recent practice of highway asset management means that there is a growing body of knowledge within LHAs across a wider range of parameters. There is a clear case for making more systematic use of this information to inform central policy making and funding decisions as well as to aid local authorities improve their road maintenance regimes.

10.5 There are three key dimensions to the maintenance of local roads - governance, funding and engineering practices. The Highways Maintenance Efficiency Programme is promoting and improving best and better road maintenance practices, and resources such as the Local highways Maintenance Appraisal Tool are assisting ongoing improvements in roads maintenance practice. It makes sense to let these initiatives continue to develop, but without the certainty and adequacy of funding, steps to improve the incentives for engineering and materials innovation, and an answer to the challenges created by utility streetworks the future looks difficult, and tightening local authority finances are making it increasingly difficult to ensure adequate skills are maintained within LHAs.

10.6 It is not only the quantum of funding that is at issue. The capital/resource split, the preponderance of one-off short notice bidding rounds, and the intense pressures on resource budgets all take their toll.

10.7 Realistically, given the wide range of pressures on the public purse, it appears unlikely that all these issues will be resolved for all local highways. Hopefully the circumstances will improve for the more important local roads, but for those less heavily trafficked routes difficult questions will need to be addressed on what, exactly, the duty in section 41 of the Highways Act 1980– "The authority who are for the time being the highway authority for a highway maintainable at the public expense are under a duty, ..., to maintain the highway" – actually means, and how far the definition might depart from road users' legitimate expectations.

RAC Foundation

October 2018

Annex A

RAC Foundation publications

Bridge maintenance 2016/17 - England, January 2018, <u>https://www.racfoundation.org/wp-content/uploads/RAC_Foundation_Bridge_Maintenance_England_2016-17.pdf</u>.

Readiness of the road network for connected and autonomous vehicles, April 2017, <u>https://www.racfoundation.org/wp-</u>content/uploads/2017/11/CAS_Readiness_of_the_road_network_April_2017.pdf.

Substandard road bridges - England, March 2017, <u>https://www.racfoundation.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/11/RAC_Foundation_Bridge_Maintenance_Eng_2015-16.pdf</u>.

Pothole compensation claims 2015/16 - England, October 2016, https://www.racfoundation.org/wpcontent/uploads/2017/11/England_FOI_pothole_2015_16.pdf.

The Condition of England's Local Roads and how they are Funded, November 2015, <u>https://www.racfoundation.org/wp-</u>

content/uploads/2017/11/condition_of_englands_local_roads_and_how_they_are_funded_Da vid_Bayliss_November_2015_web_version.pdf.

England council pothole compensation claims 2014/15, September 2015, <u>https://www.racfoundation.org/wp-</u>content/uploads/2017/11/England_FOI_pothole_tables_2014_15.pdf.

Pothole compensation claims 2013/14, January 2015,

https://www.racfoundation.org/research/economy/pothole-compensation-claims-foi-data-2013-2014-research-tables.

The Economics of Road Maintenance, June 2013, <u>https://www.racfoundation.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/11/economics_of_road_maintenance-gould_et_al-june_2013.pdf</u>.

The Economics of Road Maintenance: An RAC Foundation view, June 2013,

<u>https://www.racfoundation.org/wp-</u> content/uploads/2017/11/economics_of_road_maintenance-an_racf_view-june_2013.pdf.

Ploughing On: A review of highway resilience in Winter 2013, May 2013, <u>https://www.racfoundation.org/wp-</u> <u>content/uploads/2017/11/ploughing_on_winter_resilience_review_smith_may_2013.pdf</u>.

Local Road Maintenance: Recent trends and prospects, November 2012, <u>https://www.racfoundation.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/11/local_road_maintenance-bayliss-</u>nov2012.pdf.

Annex B - Sources

AA (2018), *AA-Populus Driver poll*, February 2018, <u>https://www.theaa.com/about-us/public-affairs/aa-populus-driver-poll-summaries-2018#february2018</u>.

All Party Parliamentary Group on Highway Maintenance (2013), *Managing a valuable asset: improving local road condition*, October 2013, <u>http://highwaysmaintenance.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/07/APPG_Report_-_Managing_a_valuable_asset.pdf</u>

Archondo-Callao, R (2010), *HDM-4Road User Costs Model Version 2.00*, Available at: <u>http://worldbank.org/roadsoftwaretools</u>

Asphalt Industry Alliance (2007), *Annual Local Authority Road Maintenance Survey 2007*, HMPR, London, March 2007.

Asphalt Industry Alliance (2008), *Annual Local Authority Road Maintenance Survey 2008*, HMPR, London, March 2008.

Asphalt Industry Alliance (2009), *Annual Local Authority Road Maintenance Survey 2009*, HMPR, London, March 2009.

Asphalt Industry Alliance (2010), *Annual Local Authority Road Maintenance Survey 2010*, HMPR, London, March 2010.

Asphalt Industry Alliance (2010), *Annual Local Authority Road Maintenance Survey 2010*, HMPR, London, March 2010.

Asphalt Industry Alliance (2011), *Annual Local Authority Road Maintenance Survey 2011*, HMPR, London, March 2011.

Asphalt Industry Alliance (2012a), *Businesses Count the Cost of Broken Roads*, July 2012, <u>http://www.asphaltindustryalliance.com/news-press.asp?info=YouGov</u>.

Asphalt Industry Alliance (2012b), *Annual Local Authority Road Maintenance Survey* 2012, March 2012, <u>http://www.asphaltuk.org/wp-content/uploads/ALARM-2012.pdf</u>.

Asphalt Industry Alliance (2013), *Annual Local Authority Road Maintenance Survey 2013*, March 2013, <u>http://www.asphaltuk.org/wp-content/uploads/ALARM-2013.pdf</u>

Asphalt Industry Alliance (2014), *Annual Local Authority Road Maintenance Survey 2014*, March 2014, <u>http://www.asphaltuk.org/wp-content/uploads/ALARM-2014.pdf</u>.

Asphalt Industry Alliance (2015), *Annual Local Authority Road Maintenance Survey 2015*, March 2015, <u>http://www.asphaltuk.org/wp-content/uploads/ALARM-2015.pdf</u>.

Asphalt Industry Alliance (2016), *Annual Local Authority Road Maintenance Survey 2016*, March 2016, <u>http://www.asphaltuk.org/wp-content/uploads/ALARM-2016.pdf</u>.

Asphalt Industry Alliance (2017), *Annual Local Authority Road Maintenance Survey 2017*, March 2017, <u>http://www.asphaltuk.org/wp-content/uploads/ALARM-2017.pdf</u>.

Asphalt Industry Alliance (2018), *Annual Local Authority Road Maintenance Survey 2018*, March 2018, <u>http://www.asphaltuk.org/wp-content/uploads/ALARM-2018.pdf</u>.

Audit Commission (2011), *Going the distance: achieving better value for money in road maintenance*, June 2011, <u>http://apse.org.uk/apse/index.cfm/members-area/briefings/2011/11-</u>30-going-the-distance-achieving-better-value-for-money-in-road-maintenancepdf/.

Butcher L. (2016), *Local roads maintenance repairs and street works in England*. HoC Briefing Paper number SN 739, December 2016, https://researchbriefings.parliament.uk/ResearchBriefing/Summary/SN00739.

CH2m Hill, (2015), *Highways Maintenance Challenge Fund - West Midlands Road* Condition Maintenance Improvements

Confederation of British Industry (2014), *Taking the Long View: A New Approach to Infrastructure – CBI-URS Survey 2014*, November 2014, <u>http://issuu.com/the-cbi/docs/cbi_urs_infrastructure_survey?e=8763041/10001920#search</u>.

County Surveyors Society (2004), *Framework for Highway Asset Management*, April 2004, www.ukroadsliaisongroup.org/...cfm/.../9E4BA1A6-74B2-414B-81205FAC797615D

Department for Business, Energy & Industrial Strategy (2018a), *Weekly road fuel prices*, 21st August, <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/oil-and-petroleum-products-weekly-statistics</u>.

Department for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy (2018b), *Total household expenditure on energy in the UK (QEP 2.6.1)*, July 2018, https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/annual-domestic-energy-price-statistics.

Department for Communities and Local Government (2009) *Place Survey 2008, England: Further results*, September 2009,

http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20120919132719/http://www.communities.gov.uk/publications/corporate/statistics/placesurvey2008update#.

Department for Communities and Local Government (2012), *Live tables on commercial and industrial floorspace and rateable value statistics, Table P401*, November 2012, https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/live-tables-on-commercial-and-industrial-floorspace-and-rateable-value-statistics.

Department for Communities and Local Government (2013), *A guide to the local government finance settlement in England*, December 2013, https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data /file/266886/LGFS_Guide.pdf.

Department for Communities and Local Government (2015), *Local authority revenue expenditure and financing in England: 2013 to 2014 final outturn*, January 2015, <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/local-authority-revenue-expenditure-and-financing-in-england-2013-to-2014-final-outturn</u>.

Department of Transport (1983), *Transport Statistics Great Britain 1972-1982*, HMSO, London, October 1983.

Department of Transport (1994), *Transport Statistics Great Britain 1994 Edition*, HMSO, London, September 1994.

Department for Transport Local Government and the Regions (2002), *National Road Maintenance Condition Survey: 2001, Transport Statistics Bulletin, SB (02)19*, DTLR, London, January 2002.

Department for Transport (2002), Transport Statistics Great Britain 2002 Edition, TSO, London October 2002.Department for Transport (2005), *Transport Statistics Great Britain 2003 Edition*, TSO, London October 2003.

Department for Transport (2007), *Transport Statistics Great Britain 2007 Edition*, October 2002,

http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20090208204058/http://www.dft.gov.uk/pgr/statist ics/datatablespublications/tsgb/edition20071.pdf.

Department for Transport (2013), *Estimating the number of traffic signs in England: 2013 V2.0*, December 2013,

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/306388/traffic-signs-england-research.pdf.

Department for Transport (2014a), *Road Investment Strategy: Performance Specification*, December 2014,

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/382814/dft-ris-performance-specification.pdf.

Department for Transport (2014b), *Explanatory Note: calculation of Highways Maintenance Block 'needs' funding 2015/16 onwards*, December 2014, <u>https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data</u> /file/390216/highways-maintenance-explantory-note.pdf.

Department for Transport (2014c), *Response to the Consultation on Local Highways Maintenance Block Funding 2015/16 onwards*, December 2014, <u>https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data</u> /file/393769/consultation-response.pdf.

Department for Transport (2014d), *Gearing up for efficient highway delivery and funding*, January 2014,

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/273820/efficie nt-funding-2015-2021.pdf.

Department for Transport (2014e), *Local transport capital block funding*, March 2014, <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-transport-capital-block-funding</u>.

Department for Transport (2014f), *Pothole Fund - Guidance on the Application Process*, April 2014,

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/305469/pothol e-fund-guidance.pdf.

Department for Transport (2014g), *Highways maintenance funding allocations*, December 2014, <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/highways-maintenance-funding-allocations-201516-to-202021</u>.

Department for Transport (2015a), *Local highways maintenance appraisal tool*, December 2015, <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-highways-maintenance-economic-costs-and-benefits-tool</u>.

Department for Transport (2016a), *Road investment strategy for the 2015 to 2020 road period*, November 2016, <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/road-investment-strategy-for-the-2015-to-2020-road-period</u>.

Department for Transport (2016b), *Incentive fund: 2016 to 2017 final allocations*, May 2016, <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/highways-maintenance-funding-incentive-element</u>.

Department for Transport (2017a), *Road investment strategy: post-2020*, December 2017, <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/road-investment-strategy-post-2020</u>.

Department for Transport (2017b), *Proposals for the Creation of a Major Road Network Consultation*, December 2017,

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/670527/major-road-network-consultation.pdf

December (2017c), *£200 million funding boost for England's roads*, December 2017, <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/news/200-million-funding-boost-for-englands-roads</u>

Department for Transport (2017d), *UK Public Expenditure on Transport by Country and Spending Authority: from 2005/06, Table TSGB1302*, November 2017, https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/transport-statistics-great-britain-2017.

Department for Transport (2017e), *Roads Funding: Information Pack*, January 2017, <u>https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/583263/roads-funding-information-pack.pdf</u>.

Department for Transport (2017f), *Government allocates £1.2 billion roads funding to councils*, January 2017, <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/news/government-allocates-12-billion-roads-funding-to-councils</u>.

Department for Transport (2017g), *Fuel duty and Vehicle excise duty from 1987, Table TSGB1310*, November 2017, <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/transport-statistics-great-britain-2017</u>.

Department for Transport (2017h), *Highways maintenance challenge fund, list of winners*, August 2017, <u>http://maps.dft.gov.uk/challenge-fund/</u>

Department for Transport (2018a), *Road lengths (kilometres) by road type and region and country in Great Britain Table RDL0201*, July 2018, https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/road-lengths-in-great-britain-2017.

Department for Transport (2018b), *Motor vehicle traffic by road class and region and country in Great Britain, annual 2016, Table TRA0203*, July 2018, https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/road-traffic-estimates-in-great-britain-2017.

Department for Transport (2018c), *Technical Note: Road Condition and Maintenance data*, January 2018,

 $\label{eq:https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data /file/674584/road-conditions-technote.pdf.$

Department for Transport (2018d), *Road Conditions in England 2017*, January 2018, <u>https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/674577/road-conditions-in-england-2017.pdf</u>.

Department for Transport (2018e), *Surface condition of trunk roads in England, from* 2007/08 to 2016/17, Table RDC0201, January 2018, https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/rdc02-surface-conditions-and-skid-resistance.

Department for Transport (2018f), Principal and non-principal classified roads where maintenance should be considered, by Region in England, 2007/08 to 2016/17, Table

RDC0121, January 2018, <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/rdc01-roads-where-maintenance-sould-be-considered</u>.

Department for Transport (2018g), *Percentage of unclassified roads where maintenance should be considered, by region in England, 2007/08 to 2016/17, Table RDC0131*, January 2018, <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/rdc01-roads-where-maintenance-sould-be-considered</u>.

Department for Transport (2018h), *Skidding resistance of trunk roads in England, from* 2007/08 to 2016/17, Table RDC0210, January 2018, https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/rdc02-surface-conditions-and-skid-

resistance.

Department for Transport (2018i), *Skidding resistance of principal roads, in England, three year averages from 2011/12 to 2016/17, Table RDC0140*, January 2018, https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/rdc01-roads-where-maintenance-sould-be-considered.

Department for Transport (2018j), *Average number of trips (trip rates) by purpose and main mode: England, 2017, Table NTS0409*, July 2018, <u>https://www.</u>

gov.uk/government/statistics/national-travel-survey-2017.

Department for Transport (2018k), *Average distance travelled by purpose and main mode: England, 2017*, Table NTS0410, July 2018, https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/national-travel-survey-2017.

Department for Transport (20181), *Pothole fund boosted to repair roads after winter damage*, March 2018, <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/news/pothole-fund-boosted-to-repair-roads-after-winter-damage</u>.

French G., (2018), *The growing importance of sub-national transport bodies*, Institution of Civil Engineers, June 2918, <u>https://www.ice.org.uk/news-and-insight/the-infrastructure-blog/june-2018/growing-importance-of-sub-national-transport-bodies</u>.

Gould E., Parkman C. & Buckland T. (2013), *The Economics of Road Maintenance*, RAC Foundation, June 2013, <u>https://www.racfoundation.org/wp-</u> content/uploads/2017/11/economics_of_road_maintenance-gould_et_al-june_2013.pdf.

Highways Maintenance Efficiency Programme (2011), *Potholes Review Progress Report*, December 2011,

http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20120207161310/http://www.dft.gov.uk/publications/potholes-review-progress-report/.

Highways Maintenance Efficiency Programme (2017), *HMEP Highway Maintenance Term Service Contract*, July 2017, <u>http://www.htma.info/our-work/contribution-to-</u> <u>hmep.html?coldboxEvent=templates.Download&id=6BB3BFA8-DA63-4E58-</u> <u>A6B231ACBD50C522</u>.

Highways Maintenance Efficiency Programme (2018), *About us*, retrieved 22nd August 2018 from <u>http://www.highwaysefficiency.org.uk/about-us.html</u>.

Highways England (2017), *Annual Report and Accounts 2016-2017, HC 252*, July 2017, <u>https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data</u>/file/638619/S160578_Highways_England_Annual_Report_V25_-_Web_.pdf.

HM Treasury (2015a). *Chancellor George Osborne's Summer Budget 2015 speech*, Retrieved 15th October 2015 from. <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/speeches/chancellor-george-osbornes-summer-budget-2015-speech</u>.

HM Treasury (2015b), *Fixing the foundations: Creating a more prosperous nation, CM 9098*, July 2015,

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/443897/Productivity_Plan_print.pdf.

HoC Transport Select Committee (2018), *MPs launch inquiry into poor state of local roads*, August 2018, <u>https://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-</u>z/commons-select/transport-committee/news-parliament-2017/local-roads-inquiry-launch-17-19/.

International Transport Forum (2018), *Transport infrastructure investment and maintenance spending*, retrieved 21st August 2018 from <u>https://stats.oecd.org/Index.aspx?DataSetCode=ITF_INV-MTN_DATA</u>

KANTARPUBLIC (2018), *Process Evaluation of the Safer Roads Fund*, DfT, February 2018,

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/715797/process-evaluation-of-the-safer-roads-fund-phase-1.pdf.

Local Government Association (2014), *Public want fuel duty to be spent on fixing roads*, September 2014, <u>http://www.local.gov.uk/media-releases/-/journal_content/56/10180/6512011/NEWS</u>.

Local Government Association (2015), *Future funding outlook for councils 2019/20: Interim 2015 update*, June 2015, https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/future-funding-outlook-co-18b.pdf.

Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (2010a), *Local authority revenue expenditure and financing in England: 2008 to 2009 final outturn*, September 2010, https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/local-authority-revenue-expenditure-and-financing-england-2008-to-2009-individual-local-authority-data.

Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (2010b), *Local government financial statistics England 2010*, June 2010,

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/local-government-financial-statistics-england-2010.

Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (2011), *Local authority revenue expenditure and financing in England: 2009 to 2010 final outturn*, January 2011, https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/local-authority-revenue-expenditure-and-financing-in-england-2009-to-2010-final-outturn-revised.

Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (2012), *Local authority revenue expenditure and financing in England: 2010 to 2011 final outturn (revised)*, April 2012, https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/local-authority-revenue-expenditure-and-financing-in-england-2010-to-2011-final-outturn-revised. Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (2013a), *Local authority revenue expenditure and financing in England: 2011 to 2012 final outturn (revised)*, September 2013, <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/local-authority-revenue-expenditure-and-financing-in-england-2011-to-2012-final-outturn</u>.

Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (2013b), *Local government financial statistics England 2013*, November 2013, https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/local-government-financial-statistics-england-2013.

Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (2014), *Local authority revenue expenditure and financing in England: 2012 to 2013 final outturn*, February 2014, <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/local-authority-revenue-expenditure-and-financing-in-england-2012-to-2013-final-outturn</u>.

Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (2015), *Local authority revenue expenditure and financing in England: 2013 to 2014 final outturn*, January 2015, https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/local-authority-revenue-expenditure-and-financing-in-england-2013-to-2014-final-outturn.

Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (2016a), *Local authority revenue expenditure and financing in England: 2014 to 2015 final outturn*, February 2016, <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/local-authority-revenue-expenditure-and-financing-in-england-2014-to-2015-final-outturn</u>.

Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (2016a), *Local authority revenue expenditure and financing in England: 2015 to 2016 final outturn*, November 2016, https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/local-authority-revenue-expenditure-and-financing-england-2015-to-2016-final-outturn.

Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (2017a), *Revenue Outturn (RO)* 2016-17: Highways and Transport Services (RO2) data, November 2017, https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/local-authority-revenue-expenditure-andfinancing-england-2016-to-2017-individual-local-authority-data-outturn

Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (2017b), *Local Government Financial Statistics England 2017*, July 2017, <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/local-government-financial-statistics-england-2017</u>.

Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (2017c), *Local authority revenue expenditure and financing England: 2017 to 2018 budget*, June 2017, <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/local-authority-revenue-expenditure-and-financing-england-2017-to-2018-budget</u>.

Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (2017d), *Local authority revenue expenditure and financing England: 2016 to 2017 final outturn*, November 2017, https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/local-authority-revenue-expenditure-and-financing-england-2016-to-2017-final-outturn.

Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (2017e), *Capital expenditure on roads, street lighting and flood safety by local authorities 2016 to 2017*, September 2017, https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/local-authority-capital-expenditure-and-financing-in-england-2016-to-2017-individual-local-authority-data

Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government (2018a), *Local government financial statistics England 2018*, July 2018,

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/local-government-financial-statistics-england-2018.

Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government (2018b), *Local authority revenue expenditure and financing England: 2017 to 2018 individual local authority data* – *outturn*, August 2018, <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/local-authority-revenue-</u> expenditure-and-financing-england-2017-to-2018-individual-local-authority-data-outturn.

Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government (2018c), *Revenue outturn specific and special revenue grants (RG) 2017 to 2018*, August 2018, <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/local-authority-revenue-expenditure-and-financing-england-2017-to-2018-individual-local-authority-data-outturn</u>.

National Audit Office (2014), *Maintaining strategic infrastructure: roads, HC 169*, June 2014, <u>https://www.nao.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/06/Maintaining-Strategic-Infrastructure-Roads.pdf</u>.

National Audit Office (2016), *Local Enterprise Partnerships*, *HC* 887, March 2016, https://www.nao.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/03/Local-Enterprise-Partnerships.pdf.

National Highways & Transport Network (2017), *NHT Public Satisfaction Survey 2016 - Key Results*, September 2017,

http://www.nhtnetwork.org/files/7215/0891/9327/2017 Executive Summary -Importance vs Satisfaction 1.PDF.

Office for National Statistics (2016), *Total number of households by region and country of the UK*, 1996 to 2017, February 2016,

 $\label{eq:https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/families/a \\ dhocs/005374 totalnumber of households by region and country of the uk 1996 to 2015.$

Office for National Statistics (2017), *Country and regional analysis: 2017*, November 2017, https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/country-and-regional-analysis-2017.

Office for National Statistics (2018a), *GDP deflators at market prices, and money GDP*, March 2018, <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/gdp-deflators-at-market-prices-and-money-gdp-march-2018-quarterly-national-accounts</u>.

Office for National Statistics (2018b), *Subnational population projections for England:* 2016-based, May 2018,

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/population projections/bulletins/subnationalpopulationprojectionsforengland/2016based.

Openreach (2018), Annual Report 2018, May 2018,

https://www.homeandbusiness.openreach.co.uk/docs/default-source/default-document-library/annual-report-2018.pdf?sfvrsn=108a1542_2.

Parkman, C., Abell, R., Bradbury, T. & Peeling, D. (2012). *Economic, Environmental and Social Impacts of Changes in Maintenance Spend on Roads in Scotland*, March 2012, www.transportscotland.gov.uk/strategy-and-research/publications-and-consultations/j235740-00.htm.

Passenger Transport Executive Group (2015), 'A Bumpy Ride' The Funding and Economics of Highways Maintenance on local roads in the English City Regions,

September 2015, <u>http://www.urbantransportgroup.org/system/files/general-</u> <u>docs/pteg%20Report%20Economics%20of%20Highways%20Maintenance%20_A%20Bump</u> <u>y%20Ride_FINAL.pdf</u>

Plowden (1971), The Motor car and Politics 1896 – 1970, The Bodley Head, London 1971.

Policy Exchange (2017), **69% of road users say the state of Britain's roads is not good enough**, Wolfson Economic Prize, July 2017, <u>https://policyexchange.org.uk/press-</u> release/wolfson-economics-prize-polling-shows-69-of-road-users-say-britains-roads-notgood-enough/.

Quarmby D. & Carey P., (2016), *A Major Road Network for England*, Rees Jeffries Road Fund, October 2016, <u>http://www.reesjeffreys.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/10/A-Major-Road-Network-for-England-David-Quarmby-and-Phil-Carey-Rees-Jeffreys-Road-Fund-October-2016.pdf</u>.

RAC (2014), *RAC Report on Motoring 2014 Britain on the road*, September 2014, https://www.rac.co.uk/pdfs/report-on-motoring/rac-rom-2014-v16-compressed.

RAC (2015), *RAC Report on Motoring 2015: The speed of change*, September 2015, https://www.rac.co.uk/pdfs/report-on-motoring/rac-rom-2015

RAC (2016), *RAC Report on Motoring 2016: The road to the future*, September 2016, https://www.rac.co.uk/pdfs/report-on-motoring/rac-report-on-motoring-2016.pdf.

RAC (2017), *RAC Report on Motoring 2017: Feeling the squeeze*, September 2017, https://www.rac.co.uk/pdfs/report-on-motoring/rac_rom_2017.pdf.

RAC (2018), *RAC Report on Motoring 2018: The frustrated motorist*, September 2018, https://www.rac.co.uk/pdfs/report-on-motoring/rac10483_rom-2018_content_web.

Raccuja G. (2017), *Outsourcing Tax Collection to Insurance Companies and Replacing Fuel Duty and VED with a Mileage-based Road Tax*, Policy Exchange, March 2017, https://policyexchange.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/04/10584414.pdf.

RAC Foundation (2017), *Substandard road bridges - England*, March 2017, <u>https://www.racfoundation.org/wp-</u> <u>content/uploads/2017/11/RAC_Foundation_Bridge_Maintenance_Eng_2015-16.pdf</u>.

RAC Foundation (2018), *Bridge maintenance 2016/17 - England*, January 2018, <u>https://www.racfoundation.org/wp-</u> content/uploads/RAC_Foundation_Bridge_Maintenance_England_2016-17.pdf.

Road Surface Treatments Association (2018), *New government data show how councils are forced to raid their highway budgets to fund other services*, August 2018, <u>https://www.rsta-uk.org/new-government-data-show-how-councils-are-forced-to-raid-their-highway-budgets-to-fund-other-services/</u>.

Sandford M., (2017), *Combined Authorities*, HoC Briefing Paper Number 06649, July 2017, <u>https://researchbriefings.parliament.uk/ResearchBriefing/Summary/SN06649</u>.

UK Roads Liaison Group (2013), *Highway Infrastructure Asset Management*, May 2013, <u>http://www.ukroadsliaisongroup.org/en/utilities/document-summary.cfm?docid=5C49F48E-1CE0-477F-933ACBFA169AF8CB</u>.

Water UK (2018), *Household water and sewerage bills for 2017-18*, retrieved 23rd August 2018 from <u>https://www.water.org.uk/news-water-uk/latest-news/household-water-and-sewerage-bills-2017-18</u>.

Webb S. & B (1913), *English Local Government: The Story of the King's Highway*, Longmans Green & Co, London, 1913.

World Bank Group (2018), *GDP* (*current US\$*) *All countries and economies*, retrieved 21st August 2018 from <u>https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/NY.GDP.MKTP.CD?view=map</u>

YouGov (2018), *Cycling Attitudes Survey, Cycling UK Press Release*, May 2018, <u>https://www.cyclinguk.org/press-release/britains-potential-cyclists-put-cycling-due-traffic-conditions-and-potholes</u>.